Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice 24 (2016) 145-161

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ctcp

Yoga research review

Tiffany Field ^{a, b, *}

^a Touch Research Institute, University of Miami, Miller School of Medicine, United States ^b Fielding Graduate University, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 May 2016 Accepted 15 June 2016

Keywords: Yoga research review

ABSTRACT

This paper is a review of empirical studies, review and meta-analysis publications on yoga from the last few years. The review includes demographics/prevalence of yoga as a practice, bibliometric analyses of the yoga publications and the use of yoga for physical fitness and cognitive function. Most of the studies reviewed here involve yoga effects on psychiatric and medical conditions. These include pregnancy, prenatal and postpartum depression; stress, PTSD, anxiety, and obesity; cardiovascular conditions including hypertension; pain syndromes including arthritis, headaches and low back pain; autoimmune conditions including asthma, type II diabetes and multiple sclerosis; immune conditions including HIV and breast cancer; and aging problems including balance, osteoporosis and Parkinson's. The methods and results of those studies are briefly summarized along with their limitations and suggestions for future research. Basically yoga has been more effective than control and waitlist control conditions, although not always more effective than treatment comparison groups such as other forms of exercise. More randomized controlled studies are needed in which yoga is compared to active exercise groups. Having established the physical and mental health benefits of yoga makes it ethically questionable to assign participants to inactive control groups. Shorter sessions should be investigated for cost-effectiveness and for daily practice. Multiple physical and physiological measures need to be added to the self-report research protocols and potential underlying mechanisms need to be further explored. In the interim, the studies reviewed here highlight the therapeutic effects of yoga, a practice that could come to be called yoga therapy.

© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Demo	pgraphics/prevalence of yoga practice and bibliometric analyses of research on yoga	147
	1.1.	Yoga practice	147
	1.2.	Yoga safety	
	1.3.	Yoga research trends	
	1.4.	Comparison groups	147
	1.5.	Assessment methods	147
	1.6.	Studies on students (see Table 1 for brief summaries studies)	147
	1.7.	Grade school students	147
	1.8.	High school students	148
	1.9.	University students	
	1.10.	Graduate students	
		Barriers to practicing yoga	
2.	Physic	cal fitness, cognitive function and emotional well-being	148
	2.1.	Physical flexibility	148
	22	Spinal mobility and muscle endurance	149

* Touch Research Institute, University of Miami Medical School, P.O Box 016820, Miami, FL, 33101, United States.

E-mail address: tfield@med.miami.edu.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2016.06.005 1744-3881/© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.







	2.3.	Cognitive functioning	
	2.4.	Emotional well-being	149
	2.5.	Prenatal yoga studies (see Table 2)	149
	2.6.	Intensity and safety	149
	2.7.	Beneficial effects	
	2.8.	Perinatal depression and anxiety	
	2.9.	Comparison treatment groups	
3.		and psychological disorders (see Table 3)	
	3.1.	Dentists and nurses	
	3.2.	Oxidative stress	
	3.3.	Posttraumatic stress disorder	
	3.4.	Anxiety and panic disorder	
	3.5.	Depression	
	3.6.	Overeating	
4.		ovascular conditions (see Table 4)	
	4.1.	Prehypertension	
	4.2.	Hypertension and blood pressure	
	4.3.	Cholesterol	
5.		syndromes (see Table 5)	
	5.1.	Arthritis	
	5.2.	Knee osteoarthritis	
	5.3.	Neck pain	
	5.4.	Headaches	
	5.5.	Premenstrual syndrome	
	5.6.	Low back pain	
c	5.7.	Potential underlying mechanisms for pain reduction following yoga	
6.		immune conditions (see Table 6)	
	6.1.	Asthma	
	6.2.	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	
	6.3.	Type II diabetes	
	6.4. 6.5.	Multiple sclerosis Irritable bowel syndrome	
	6.5. 6.6.	Chronic fatigue syndrome	
7.		ine disorders (see Table 7)	
7.	7.1.	Cytokines	
	7.1.	HIV	
	7.2.	Cancer	
	7.3. 7.4.	Breast cancer	
	7.4.	Colorectal cancer	
8.		conditions (see Table 8)	
0.	8.1.	Mobility and gait speed	
	8.2.	Balance	
	8.3.	Sleep quality	
	8.4.	Osteoporosis	
	8.5.	Parkinson's	
	8.6.	Respiratory function	
9.		tial underlying mechanisms	
10.		ations of studies and future directions	
		wiledgements	
		ences	

This paper is a review of empirical studies, review and metaanalysis papers on yoga that have been published over the past years (since our last review in 2010) [1]. The term yoga was entered into Pubmed and the selection criteria were empirical studies (single arm, randomized controlled) in which standard treatment, waitlist and treatment comparison groups were compared to yoga groups (of different styles). Systematic reviews, bibliometric analyses and meta-analyses are also included. Exclusion criteria were case studies, qualitative studies, small sample pilot studies and studies in which assessors were not blind. The review includes 2 surveys, 23 single arm trials, 52 randomized controlled trials, 11 systematic reviews and 7 meta-analyses.

Included are brief summaries of papers on the demographics/ prevalence of yoga as a practice, bibliometric analyses of the yoga publications and the use of yoga for grade school, high school and university students as well as for yoga practitioners. The majority of the studies reviewed involve yoga effects on psychiatric and medical conditions. The methods and results of those studies are briefly summarized along with their limitations and suggestions for future research. The psychiatric conditions include prenatal depression, stress, anxiety, posttraumatic stress disorder and eating disorder. The medical conditions include prematurity, cardiovascular (hypertension, elevated cholesterol), pain syndromes (arthritis, low back pain, headaches, fibromyalgia), autoimmune (asthma, diabetes, irritable bowel, chronic fatigue, multiple sclerosis) and immune (HIV, breast cancer) conditions, as well as aging problems (sleep, balance, osteoporosis, Parkinson's). These and underlying mechanism studies are critically reviewed and suggestions are given for future research.

1. Demographics/prevalence of yoga practice and bibliometric analyses of research on yoga

1.1. Yoga practice

In a recent survey, approximately 21 million Americans were noted to practice yoga during the past year [2]. Data from this national health survey suggest that 51% of this sample attended yoga classes. The reasons given for yoga were increasing energy (66%), enhancing immune function (50%) and health and disease prevention (28%). The major conditions included back pain (20%), arthritis (6%) and stress (6%). In this survey, the yoga practitioners were primarily female, young, non-Hispanic white, college—educated, living in the west and in excellent health. Again, in a systematic review of the literature on yoga practice, women were noted to be the most common practitioners and yoga was being practiced primarily for distress and physical problems as well as for better health [3].

1.2. Yoga safety

Yoga has been considered a safe practice, although in a survey from Japan on adverse events, 28% of yoga practitioners were noted to have some undesirable experience with yoga [4]. However, the yoga practitioners in this study were noted to be in poor physical condition or had chronic disease. They reported that the yoga classes were physically and mentally stressful. The adverse events were primarily among elderly practitioners and those with chronic musculoskeletal disease. In contrast, a meta-analysis of the literature on randomized controlled trials in the U.S. suggested that yoga was as safe as exercise and usual care [5]. In this meta-analysis there was reportedly no difference in non-serious or serious adverse events between yoga practitioners and those who exercised.

1.3. Yoga research trends

Regarding research trends, the number of publications on yoga since 2000 has significantly increased and since 2007 there has been a surge of publications [6] In this analysis, the author reported that more than 200 titles were added to the literature every year since 2011. Most frequently, the yoga studies have focused on pain, stress, anxiety, depression and cancer. In another bibliometric analysis that was conducted on published studies from 1967 to 2013, the authors noted that they included 486 articles that had been published in 217 different peer-review journals including 28,080 participants from 29 different countries [7]. They reported a three-fold increase in the number of publications in the last decade with 45% of the studies being randomized controlled trials, 18% being controlled trials and 37% being uncontrolled trials. Of these, notably twice as many originated from India (N = 258) followed by the U.S. (N = 122) and a very low number from Canada (N = 13). In this analysis the authors noted that the primary yoga interventions were for mental health, cardiovascular and respiratory disease.

In still another bibliometric analysis on papers published between 1975 and 2014, 366 papers were included of which 312 were randomized controlled trials and were from 23 different countries with 22,248 participants [8]. They noted that 85% of the studies were conducted with adults, 34% being with older adults and 10% with children. Only 27% were conducted with healthy participants and the other 73% had different medical conditions with the most common being breast cancer followed by depression, asthma and type 2 diabetes. Forty-six different yoga styles were used with a median sample size of 59 (and a range of 8–410) with 11% using Hatha yoga and the remaining 89% using 46 different yoga styles. The median intervention duration was 9 weeks with 78% of the studies using yoga poses. This analysis highlights the variability of these studies on every aspect of their methods. There appear to be no replication studies, probably because replication studies are often deemed insufficiently original for publication. And, failures to replicate, as in proving the null hypothesis, are less frequently published.

1.4. Comparison groups

The question of comparison groups was addressed by a systematic review of the literature [9]. This research group identified 125 randomized controlled trials that met their criteria, and of these, 65 used an active comparison group. The primary comparison groups were physical exercise (43%), relaxation/meditation (20%) and education (16%). In a study that related to dosage level of yoga, the authors reported that on average the study sessions were 30–40 min, 5 times per week for a period of 6 weeks [10].

1.5. Assessment methods

Assessment methods have also been highly variable, although most often standardized self -report measures have been used on mood, sleep, pain and quality of life. Occasionally new scales have been developed specifically for yoga. For example, the Yoga Self-Efficacy scale was developed and psychometrically evaluated in a recent study [11]. The majority of the participants were white female yoga instructors. Not surprising, the yoga teachers scored significantly higher than the non-teachers. And, the non-significant correlations with gender and income suggested that the scale has good validity and might be used in future studies.

1.6. Studies on students (see Table 1 for brief summaries studies)

Yoga studies have been conducted on several different age students including grade school, high school, and university students as well as yoga practitioners. In a bibliometric analysis, 47 publications on yoga in school settings were identified [12]. These studies were conducted primarily in the U.S. (N = 30) and India (N = 15). Of the studies conducted from 2010 onward (N = 41), about half were non-randomized controlled trials. And, significant variability was noted in the yoga styles and characteristics including the number and duration of sessions.

1.7. Grade school students

In a grade school study, a literature search revealed nine RCTs on yoga from the years 1982–2014 [13]. The results suggested that the grade school children experienced reduced tension and anxiety and improved self-esteem and mood following yoga. This may explain the reduction in cortisol levels following a 10 week yoga program in a study on grade school children [14]. In an afterschool yoga program for grade school children two sessions were held per week for 4 weeks [15]. On a mid-intervention survey 83% of the children reported positive mood changes, greater relaxation and greater strength. The children on average recalled five of the poses and stated that their favorite pose was upward facing dog (among the tree, mountain, warrior, dancer, cow, cat, boat, upward facing dog and downward facing dog poses). However, when yoga was compared to exercise, no differences were reported. For example, in a study on yoga versus physical skill training, there were no differences in movement and cognitive skills [16]. Similarly, in a study that compared yoga with physical education three times per week

Table 1

Students, physical fitness and cognitive functions that have been improved by yoga: conditions, reference numbers, trial types, comparison groups and primary results.

Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Students				
Grade school	13	REV	RCTS	<tension and="" anxiety<="" td=""></tension>
	14	Single arm		<cortisol< td=""></cortisol<>
	15	Single arm		>strength
	16	RCT	Phys Ed	=movt. & cog. skills
	17	RCT	Phys Ed	=emot. & behav.
High school	18	RCT	Phys Ed	>Emot. Reg.
-	19	RCT	PhysEd	>GPA
University	21	Single arm	-	>Emotional sensitivity
Graduate Sch	22	Single arm		<stress< td=""></stress<>
Physical fitness		-		
Flexibility	24	Single arm		>Flexibility
-	25	RCT	PhysTher	>Flexibility back & hamstrings
	27	RCT	Control	>Flexibility & balance
	28	RCT	Calisthenics	>Flexibility
	29	RCT	Stretching	=balance & flexibility
Spinal mobility	30	Single arm		>spinal mobility
Muscle endurance	31	RCT	Control	>Muscle endurance
Cognitive functions				
Executive function	32	RCT	Stretching	>Executive function
	33	REV		>Executive function
	34	META		>Attention & processing speed
Emotional well-being	36	RCT	Control	>Positive affect

for 12 weeks the yoga and the physical educations classes did not have a different impact on the children's emotional and behavioral functioning [17].

1.8. High school students

In a study on high school students using a randomized-controlled trial design, yoga was again compared to physical education, but this time the 16-week yoga intervention as opposed to regular physical education led to greater emotion regulation in the yoga group [18]. In another study on high school students the grade point average of the students showed a lesser decline in the yoga group as compared to a physical education group [19]. In a study on adolescents with behavior problems increased yoga participation over an eight week period (twice-weekly), led to greater sociability and a decrease in behavior problems [20]. The mixed data from the comparisons between yoga and physical education may relate to different types of yoga being used. For example, no difference was noted when Ashtanga yoga was compared to physical education, perhaps because Ashtanga is a rigorous, fast-moving yoga style that would be equivalent to a physical education class.

1.9. University students

In a study on university students, Vinyasa yoga classes were given twice-weekly for two months [21]. By self-report positive affect increased and negative affect decreased. In this study on emotional intelligence in university students 21 days of yoga led to an increase in emotional sensitivity, but this was a single arm prepost design.

1.10. Graduate students

In a study on university graduate students, faculty and staff experiencing a 10 week yoga program (90-min sessions), stress was reduced [22]. Adherence was 88% and reenrollment for another 10 weeks was 64%. However, poses were combined with conceptual grounding, breathing and meditation exercises, making it difficult to know which aspect of yoga was effective.

1.11. Barriers to practicing yoga

Barriers to practicing yoga as well as motivators for practicing yoga have been studied in health professions students [23]. The barriers given included time, cost, lack of pragmatic information about access to yoga classes and stereotypes related to flexibility, athleticism and typical yoga practitioners. The motivators given included athleticism, health promotion, emotional well-being, seeking pain relief and sense of community.

2. Physical fitness, cognitive function and emotional wellbeing

Several studies have examined the effects of yoga on physical fitness including flexibility, balance, spinal mobility and muscular endurance. Cognitive functions have also been assessed including executive function, attention, processing speed and memory.

2.1. Physical flexibility

Physical flexibility has been assessed using different forms of yoga including Iyengar and Hatha yoga and using different measures including the standard sit and reach test, flexibility of the lower back and hamstrings and electromyographic signals. In an Iyengar yoga study following six weeks of 190 -minute sessions once per week lumbar and hamstring flexibility were greater on the standard sit and reach test [24]. Unfortunately this was a pre-post design with no control group. In a Hatha yoga study on flexibility, Hatha yoga was combined with physical therapy and compared to a physical therapy alone control group [25]. Following eight weeks of three 1-h sessions per week flexibility of the lower back and the hamstrings, hand grip strength and vital capacity were greater in the yoga plus physical therapy group.

At least two studies were focused on specific poses and their effects on specific muscles. In one of these studies after three months of yoga practice surface electromyographic signals during different poses suggested that downward facing dog poses are effective for strengthening abdominal muscles while chair and warrior one poses were strengthening the gluteus maximus muscles and all of these muscles could be strengthened by the upward facing dog pose [26]. It's interesting in this light that the upward facing dog pose was the most popular pose among grade school students [15]. Another study measuring flexibility by joint angles suggested that after 10 weeks of yoga, a yoga group versus a non-yoga group of athletes showed increased flexibility and balance during different yoga poses including downward dog, upward dog, right foot lunge and the chair pose [27].

Yoga has been compared to other active exercise groups including calisthenics and stretching—strengthening exercise groups. In the calisthenics study a yoga group was compared to a calisthenics group after one year of three times per week sessions [28]. The Hatha yoga group featuring slow movements was more effective in improving flexibility than the fast movements in calisthenics. In a comparison between stretching—strengthening exercise and Hatha yoga, this randomized controlled trial of eight weeks (three times a week for 1 h) revealed equivalent performance for both groups on measures of balance, strength, flexibility and mobility [29].

2.2. Spinal mobility and muscle endurance

Other physical fitness measures have included spinal mobility and muscular endurance. Spinal mobility was measured in a Hatha yoga study that involved 90 min sessions once a week for 20 weeks [30]. Both spinal mobility and flexibility of the hamstring muscles were increased by the end of the study. Again, unfortunately, this was not a randomized controlled trial or a treatment comparison group. In a muscular endurance study yoga was compared to an inactive control group [31]. Following 18 sessions (three times per week for 1 h per session) muscular endurance was measured in the upper limbs by push-ups and in the abdomen by sit ups. The yoga group, as would be expected, showed greater improvement in both upper limb and abdominal muscle endurance.

2.3. Cognitive functioning

At least one randomized controlled study, one systematic review and one meta-analysis have been conducted on the effects of yoga on cognitive functions including executive function, attention, processing speed and memory. In a randomized controlled study a Hatha yoga group was compared to a stretching-strengthening comparison control group following an eight week period of 1 h classes three times per week [32]. The yoga group showed significantly greater improvement on the executive function measures of working memory, shorter reaction times on switching trials and greater accuracy. In a systematic review on yoga and executive function, 11 published studies met eligibility criteria [33], and, in at least half of these studies significant improvement was noted on executive function tasks following Hatha yoga. These results were surprising inasmuch as executive function is usually improved following seated meditation but has rarely been measured following Hatha yoga poses. In a meta-analysis on the effects of yoga, 15 randomized controlled trial studies were examined for the effects of yoga on cognition [34]. The strongest effect was noted for attention and processing speed followed by executive function and memory.

2.4. Emotional well-being

Yoga studies on emotional well-being have included measures of positive and negative affect and functional connectivity in the brain. In a study on 8 weeks of Vinyasa yoga with college students, positive affect scores increased and negative affect scores decreased [35]. Positive affect has increased even after one session of Hatha yoga as compared to a lecture control class. These changes in well-being may relate to greater connectivity between the caudate and other regions of the brain (basal ganglia cortical—thalamic feedback loops) as has been noted in a study on Kripalu yoga practitioners [36].

These fitness studies have a number of limitations. They include limited sample sizes, heterogeneous samples, different yoga styles, highly variable doses of yoga and many different types of assessments. In addition, better designed, more rigorous randomized controlled trials using active controls are needed to assess the effects of yoga on physical fitness, cognitive function and emotional well-being.

2.5. Prenatal yoga studies (see Table 2)

Prenatal yoga has become increasingly popular and has raised questions regarding its safety and potential benefits on the pregnant women and their fetuses. The prenatal yoga studies reviewed here are focused on the intensity of yoga, the absence of physiological changes for the mother and the fetus during a number of poses (and therefore the safety of prenatal yoga), the beneficial effects on the mothers, and studies on alleviation of prenatal depression and anxiety and the resultant enhanced fetal growth, and the greater gestational age and birth weight of the newborn. Again the studies have ranged from randomized controlled trials to systematic reviews to meta-analyses.

2.6. Intensity and safety

In a study on the intensity level of prenatal yoga, an armband monitor was worn by healthy pregnant women who experienced different intensity yoga poses [37]. Based on energy expenditure on average 93% of the classes were categorized as sedentary and 7% were considered moderate intensity physical activity. In a study examining the safety of prenatal yoga, maternal and fetal heart rate and temperature were taken during 26 different yoga poses [38]. A comparison of the post session with the pre session data showed no change in pregnant women's heart rate, temperature or fetal heart rate and there were no falls or injuries during the total 650 poses. None of the participants reported fetal movement changes, contractions or vaginal bleeding, thus ensuring the safety of prenatal yoga even as late as 38 weeks gestation.

2.7. Beneficial effects

Turning to the beneficial effects of yoga on pregnant women, a systematic review of 10 randomized controlled trials suggested that those in the yoga groups had a lower incidence of prenatal disorders, lower levels of pain and stress, higher relationship scores and greater gestational age offspring [39]. The reviewers also concluded that yoga was a more effective exercise than walking or standard prenatal exercises. In a study on the effects of yoga on fetal growth measures and uterine artery resistance a yoga group was compared to a group who received standard care plus walking [40]. The yoga sessions were held three times a week for 1 h during the 12th to the 28th weeks of gestation. The results suggested significantly better growth measures for the fetuses of the yoga group including parietal diameter, femur length, head circumference and fetal weight, and uterine artery resistance was significantly lower in the yoga group, thus suggesting better fetal circulation.

2.8. Perinatal depression and anxiety

Perinatal depression reputedly affects approximately 20% of women and 10% of women are affected by perinatal anxiety. Because the literature is mixed on pharmacological treatment, depressed and anxious pregnant women are exploring alternatives

Table 2

Pregnancy and postpartum conditions that have been improved by yoga: conditions, reference numbers, trial types, comparison groups and primary results.

Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Pregnancy				
Exercise intensity	37	Single arm		93% sedentary, 7% moderate exercise
Safety	38	Single arm		No change fetal HR & contractions
Benefits	39	REV		<pre><pain, &="" pre="" prematurity<="" stress=""></pain,></pre>
	40	RCT	Walking	>Fetal circulation & growth
Anxiety & depression	41	REV	-	<anxiety &="" depression<="" td=""></anxiety>
	42	META	Exercise	<depression< td=""></depression<>
	43	Single arm		<anxiety &="" cortisol<="" td=""></anxiety>
	44	RCT	Health edu	=decrease depression
	45	RCT	Support group	=decrease depression & cortisol
	46	RCT	Massage	=decrease depr & prematurity
	47	RCT	waitlist	<depression &="" disturbance<="" sleep="" td=""></depression>
Postpartum				× ×
Depression & anxiety	49	RCT	Waitlist	<depression &="" anxiety<="" td=""></depression>
Depression	50	RCT	Usual care	<depression< td=""></depression<>

including yoga. In a systematic review of the literature, 13 publications that met inclusion criteria suggested that yoga interventions reduced anxiety and depression [41] In a meta-analysis study six randomized controlled trials were identified, and the analysis involved comparison groups including prenatal care, exercise, social support and massage [42]. Depression was significantly lower in the yoga versus the comparison groups. A surprising finding was that integrated yoga groups experienced a greater decrease in depression than the physical–exercise–based yoga groups, suggesting that the breathing and meditation components of yoga may add to the physical exercise of yoga poses. Even a single session of yoga has been noted to decrease state anxiety as well as cortisol levels in depressed pregnant women [43].

2.9. Comparison treatment groups

When randomized controlled trials are conducted with yoga versus treatment comparison groups, the groups frequently do not differ. For example, in a comparison between prenatal yoga and perinatal-focused health education, the decreases in depression were surprisingly not statistically different between groups [44]. And, in another randomized controlled trial we compared a yoga group with an inactive social support group (leaderless discussion group) [45]. Short-term changes favored the yoga group on having less depression, anxiety, anger, back and leg pain after the first and last yoga sessions, but when comparing the last to the first day of the study, both groups had lower depression and anxiety scores as well as lower cortisol, estriol and progesterone levels. These lower levels are clinically significant given that they are inversely correlated with gestational age. In another randomized controlled study by our group, the effects of yoga were compared to those of massage therapy [46]. Following 12 weeks of twice-weekly yoga or massage therapy sessions for depressed pregnant women, both therapy groups as compared to the control group had a greater decrease in anxiety, depression, back and leg pain as well as improved relationships. Both treatment groups also had better neonatal outcomes including greater gestational age and birth weight than the control group. In still another study by our group, tai chi was combined with yoga for a 12 week period (20 min group sessions per week) for depressed pregnant women [47]. As compared to a waitlist control group the yoga group had lower depression scores, lower anxiety scores and lower sleep disturbance scores by the end of the study. The findings from both these studies are perhaps not surprising as both yoga and massage are noted to stimulate pressure receptors which, in turn, leads to greater vagal activity and to lower depression and cortisol levels as well as less sleep disturbance.

Up to 20% of women experience postpartum depression, in many cases a continuation of pre-natal depression [48]. In a study in which postpartum depressed women were randomly assigned to a yoga or waitlist control group, 16 classes over eight weeks led to a greater decrease in postpartum depression and anxiety and an increase in quality of life [49] According to the authors,78% of the women in the yoga group experienced clinically significant change. In a study that provided Hatha yoga sessions (90 min) prenatally and assessed both prenatal and postpartum depression, the yoga group as opposed to the control group surprisingly experienced less depression during the postpartum but not the prenatal period [50].

3. Stress and psychological disorders (see Table 3)

Stress and several psychological disorders including posttraumatic stress disorder, depression and anxiety are reviewed in this section. Stress has been recently studied in a couple groups of professionals including dentists and nurses.

3.1. Dentists and nurses

Stress is notably common in dentists, although only 10% of dentists practice yoga [51]. In this survey study musculoskeletal pain with stress was reported by 47% of the dentists but 53% of the dentists did not consider yoga as an alternative therapy and gave a lack of time as a reason. In the study on nurses, 120 nurses were randomly assigned to two groups, a yoga group and a non-yoga group [52]. The yoga group practiced for 20 min after work two times per week. After six months the nurses in the yoga group had better sleep quality and less work stress.

3.2. Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress has also been studied in yoga practitioners [53]. In this study practitioners of two years or more were noted to have higher levels of antioxidants than a control group. In a systematic review of mechanisms underlying stress reduction by yoga, the four biological mechanisms identified were the posterior hypothalamus (the initial point in the cortisol release pathway), elevated cortisol, increased interleukin-6 (as a pro-inflammatory cytokine), and C-reactive protein (another pro-inflammatory cytokine) [54]. In anther systematic review on yoga for stress management, 17 studies met inclusion criteria and of those 17, 12 showed positive psychological and physiological outcomes following a yoga intervention [55]. However, not all studies were randomized controlled trials, some had small sample sizes and the yoga classes were highly variable in length and style.

Stress and psychological conditions that have been improved by yoga: conditions, reference numbers, trial types, comparison groups and primary results.

Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Stress & psychological condi	itions			
Stressed dentists	51	survey		47%muscle pain & stress-10% yoga
Stressed nurses	52	RCT	Control	>sleep quality & <stress< td=""></stress<>
Oxidative stress	53	RCT	Control	>levels antioxidants
Stress	55	REV	Control	>positive psych & physiol
PTSD	56	RCT	Waitlist	<sleep &="" anxiety<="" disturb,="" stress="" td=""></sleep>
	57	Single arm		<stress &="" anxiety<="" td=""></stress>
	58	RCT	Health ed	<depr &="" ptsd<="" td=""></depr>
	59	RCT	usual care	<alcohol &="" drug="" td="" use<=""></alcohol>
	60	REV		only 2 RCTs met criteria
Anxiety	61	Single arm		<anxiety, bp<="" heart="" rate,="" syst="" td=""></anxiety,>
Panic disorder	62	RCT	Cog behav ther	<anxiety &="" panic="" sensations<="" td=""></anxiety>
Depression	63	Survey	yoga teachers	postures & breath reg essential
	64	RCT	Yoga & antidep	both yoga groups < depr
	65	Single arm		<depr 1="" end="" of="" td="" year<=""></depr>
Overeating	67	RCT	Waitlist	<emotional eating<="" td=""></emotional>
	68	RCT	Instructor/DVD	prefer instructor,>activ. DVD
Obesity	69	Single arm		<bmi, &pro-inflamm.="" cyt<="" glucose="" td=""></bmi,>

3.3. Posttraumatic stress disorder

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is a more serious form of stress most frequently noted in military veterans. In a study on yoga with military service personnel the yoga group experienced a significantly greater reduction in PTSD symptoms than a waitlist control group [56]. Surprisingly, even Kundalini yoga has reduced PTSD symptoms including sleep disturbances, stress and anxiety [57]. These results were surprising inasmuch as Kundalini yoga typically features lying down poses that would be considered restorative and inactive.

When yoga has been compared to other treatment groups for PTSD symptoms, the results are not as conclusive. For example, in a comparison between yoga and women's health education for 1 h classes for 10 weeks, both groups showed decreases in PDS symptoms during the first half of treatment, but only the yoga group showed continuing improvements [58]. The same group of investigators did a follow-up study on these women with chronic PTSD and noted that the frequency of continuing yoga predicted greater decreases in PTSD and depression symptoms as well as a loss of PTSD diagnosis. Other symptoms often associated with posttraumatic stress disorder are alcohol and drug abuse [59]. In this randomized controlled study alcohol use disorder identification tests and drug use disorder identification tests showed decreased scores on those measures following a 12 session yoga intervention. In a systematic review on randomized controlled trials from 2008 to 2014 only two randomized controlled trials were found for PTSD that were high-quality studies, highlighting the need for more conclusive studies on PTSD and yoga [60].

3.4. Anxiety and panic disorder

Anxiety and panic disorder have been similarly decreased by yoga. Before yoga training the participants in one study were distributed 6% mild anxiety, 18% moderate, and 76% severe anxiety [61]. After four weeks of yoga camp, a significant decrease in anxiety was noted with 44% being mild, 19% moderate and 37% severe. This was accompanied by decreased heart rate and systolic blood pressure. Yoga has also been used for panic disorder (anxiety and agoraphobia) [62]. In this study a yoga group was compared to a yoga plus cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) group following 2 months of weekly 100-min sessions. Both groups experienced reduced anxiety levels and panic-related body sensations, although these changes were even greater for the yoga plus CBT group.

3.5. Depression

Recent studies on yoga and depression have included a consensus survey on the parameters of the yoga practice that are needed to lessen depression, a comparison between yoga and antidepressant effects and a study assessing the long-term effects of yoga. In the consensus survey, yoga teachers were asked for their recommendations for yoga practice [63]. The yoga teachers agreed that yoga classes should be on average 30-40 min, five times per week over six weeks. Postures and breath regulation were considered essential for reducing depression. In a study comparing yoga alone, antidepressant medication alone and yoga along with antidepressants, more patients in the yoga groups had a decrease in cortisol levels, and in the yoga alone group the cortisol decrease correlated with decreased depression scores [64]. In a longitudinal follow-up study, the effects of yoga were seen to last at least to the end of one-year [65]. Although the findings of the study may not be generalizable because the sample size was limited, the data suggest that yoga may have a sustained effect on depression and its symptoms including ruminations, stress, anxiety and quality of life.

3.6. Overeating

Low distress tolerance individuals avoid emotional experiences and often engage in overeating to reduce their distress [66]. A group of 52 females with this disorder were randomly assigned to an 8-week, twice-weekly Hatha yoga group or a waitlist control group. Participants in the yoga group experienced a greater reduction in "emotional eating". In another study distress tolerance was related to adherence to a yoga intervention [67]. Overweight people have also participated in a 2-month yoga program and 4month follow-up to assess the effects of an instructor versus the use of DVDs [68]. Although an instructor was preferred, the DVD group surprisingly showed higher physical activity levels, probably because the DVD facilitated more frequent yoga practice.

It is unclear why weight loss or decreased body mass index (BMI) was not reported in these studies. In a study that did report these measures, overweight/obese individuals had engaged in a yoga intervention for 10 days [69]. By the tenth day the participants showed reduced weight, BMI, waist/hip ratio, blood glucose and pro-inflammatory cytokines including interleukin-6 and neopterin. At a 30-day follow-up weight loss was sustained and systolic blood pressure was also reduced.

4. Cardiovascular conditions (see Table 4)

The recent literature on the use of yoga with cardiovascular conditions has focused on prehypertension, hypertension, and elevated cholesterol. High blood pressure is a notable risk factor for cardiovascular disease [70].

4.1. Prehypertension

In a randomized controlled study, yoga, standard lifestyle modification and lifestyle plus yoga were compared for their effects on pre-hypertension (systolic BP 120–139 and/or diastolic BP 80–89) [70]. Several potentially confounding variables were comparable between groups at the onset of the study including age, waist circumference, physical activity, blood pressure and glucose and lipids. After three months of intervention the lifestyle plus yoga group showed a significant decrease in systolic blood pressure. In addition, 13 pre-hypertensives became normotensive in the lifestyle group. In a study on mild hypertensives, a yoga group was compared to an active control group (nonaerobic exercise) [71]. The yoga group experienced a significant decrease in diastolic blood pressure, although the nonaerobic exercise group did not change.

4.2. Hypertension and blood pressure

In a systematic review of randomized clinical trials 11 of 17 of the trials that met the inclusion criteria showed a significantly greater reduction in systolic and diastolic blood pressure as compared to pharmacotherapy, no treatment or usual care [72]. The other six randomized controlled trials showed no significant yoga effects. In another systematic review and meta-analysis, yoga and exercise did not differ in their effects on systolic and diastolic blood pressure [73]. And, when Kundalini yoga was compared to usual care a three-month intervention of 15 min twice daily showed no group differences on blood pressure in patients with hypertension [74]. This result is perhaps not surprising given that Kundalini yoga only involves lying down poses. As has been noted in a study on the specific effects of yoga poses, there were only significant changes in blood pressure immediately after the standing poses as opposed to the relaxation in the supine poses [75]. The average of 10 mmHg reduction in systolic blood pressure and 8 mmHg in diastolic blood pressure has been attributed to increased parasympathetic activity and decreased sympathetic activity by increased GABA activity, counteracting the excessive activity of the sympathetic nervous system that has been associated with hypertension [76].

4.3. Cholesterol

Cholesterol altering yoga effects have also been prominent in

this literature. In a randomized controlled trial attending a yoga program led to a significant increase in high density lipoprotein (HDL) as well as reduced blood pressure and glucose and an improvement in other lipid profile variables [77]. Unfortunately, yoga was not compared to an active group and the yoga program included not only poses but also breathing exercises, meditation, group discussions and advice on stress management and healthy diet, confounding the question of yoga effects. However, when yoga was compared to a physiotherapy program, the yoga group showed significantly greater improvement in HDL, low density lipoprotein (LDL) and very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) [78]. In addition, unlike most other studies this research group also assessed stress, anxiety, depression and negative affect which were also more positively affected by yoga.

In a systematic review and meta-analysis, 44 RCTs comprised of 3168 participants showed that relative to usual care or no intervention, yoga improved HDL, VLDL, triglycerides and insulin resistance [79]. When yoga was compared to exercise, a greater increase in HDL was noted in the yoga groups. This meta-analysis also showed improved systolic and diastolic blood pressure, heart rate, respiratory rate and waist circumference following yoga. In another systematic review and meta-analysis in which 37 RCTs were included, the yoga participants compared to non-exercise controls showed improved HDL, LDL, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure and heart rate [80]. These systematic reviews and meta-analyses, while suggestive, have limitations. They include a number of studies not adhering to inclusion criteria, small sample sizes and high attrition rates, high-lighting the need for more robust randomized controlled trials.

5. Pain syndromes (see Table 5)

Just as much as massage therapy research has focused on pain, yoga research (yoga being a form of self-massage) has focused on pain syndromes [1]. Recent research on pain reduction following yoga includes studies on arthritis, headaches, pre-menstrual syndrome, lower back pain and potential mechanisms underlying the relationship between yoga and pain reduction. This research has been primarily based on randomized controlled trials, systematic reviews and/or meta-analyses.

5.1. Arthritis

Approximately 21% of adults in the US suffer from arthritis [1]. In a systematic review on yoga for arthritis, positive psychological or physiological outcomes were noted for six of the nine studies included [81]. Unfortunately, once again, not all of the studies were randomized controlled trials, several had small sample sizes, and different yoga routines were used of varying lengths and different outcome variables. In a more recent review of the literature, this

Table 4

Cardiovascular conditions that have been improved by yoga: conditions, reference numbers, trial types, comparison groups and primary results.

Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Cardiovascular				
Prehypertension	70	RCT	Lifestyle program	<systolic bp<="" td=""></systolic>
••	71	RCT	Exercise	<diastolic bp<="" td=""></diastolic>
Hypertension	72	REV	Pharmacotherapy	<syst &="" bp<="" diast="" td=""></syst>
	73	META	Exercise	No difference
	74	RCT	Kundalini vs. usual care	No difference
	75	Single arm	Standing vs. supine poses	<bp standing<="" td=""></bp>
Cholesterol	77	RCT	Inactive control	<hdl< td=""></hdl<>
	78	RCT	Physiotherapy	>HDL & <ldl< td=""></ldl<>
	79	META	Exercise	>HDL & <ldl< td=""></ldl<>
	80	META	Non-exercise	>HDL & <ldl< td=""></ldl<>

ain syndromes that have be	en improved by yoga: condition	s, reference numbers, trial types,	comparison groups and primary r	esults.
Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Pain syndromes				
Arthritis	81	REV		>positive physiol outcomes
	82	REV		<pre><pain, &="" pre="" stiffness<="" swelling=""></pain,></pre>
Knee osteo	83	RCT	Exercise	<walking pain,=""> ROM</walking>
	84	RCT	Waitlist	<pre><pain &="" pre="" problems<="" sleep=""></pain></pre>
	85	RCT	Waitlist	>6 min walk
Neck pain	86	RCT	Pilates	No differences
Headache	87	RCT	Medication	<headaches< td=""></headaches<>
	88	RCT	Usual care	<headaches &=""> vagal activity</headaches>
Premenstrual	89	Single arm		>alpha waves & >cog. funct
Low back pain	90	RCT	Exercise	<pre><pre>pain</pre></pre>
-	93	Single arm		>serotonin & bone marker
	94	Single arm		>gray matter

Table 5 Pai C

time focused on osteoarthritis symptoms, 12 reports met inclusion criteria involving a total of 589 participants [82]. Again, the studies varied on the types of yoga and the frequencies and durations of yoga. Iyengar and Hatha were the most frequently used types, and the frequency ranged between once a week to every day and for 45-90 min per session for 6-12 weeks. In this collection of studies, yoga resulted in decreased pain, swelling and stiffness, but because of the variety of outcome measures, these results are inconclusive.

5.2. Knee osteoarthritis

In a randomized controlled study on knee osteoarthritis that focused on specific physical measures, the participants were randomly assigned to Hatha yoga or therapeutic exercises after having transcutaneous electrical stimulation and ultrasound treatment [83]. The intervention groups met for 40 min per day for three months. Although there were no significant differences between the yoga and exercise groups, there were better improvements for the yoga than the control group on walking pain, knee disability, range of knee flexion, joint tenderness, swelling, crepitus and walking time. The authors concluded that Hatha yoga practice is better than therapeutic exercise on all of these variables for patients with knee osteoarthritis. In another randomized controlled study on knee osteoarthritis in older women, the participants were randomly assigned to an eight week yoga program involving group and home sessions or to a waitlist control group [84]. The yoga group outperformed the waitlist control group on reduction in pain, stiffness, and sleep disturbances by the end of 20 weeks of treatment.

Long-term effects have been noted in at least one randomized controlled study on rheumatoid arthritis. In that study a yoga group received eight weeks of 60 min classes twice per week and was compared to a waitlist control group [85]. The yoga group showed significantly better performance on the 6 min walk, on flexibility and on quality of life variables at eight weeks and as long as nine months later. The problem with this study is that rheumatoid arthritis patients were grouped with knee osteoarthritis patients. And once again integral-based Hatha yoga was used combining poses with breathing exercises and meditation, thus confounding the treatment effect, and the poses were modified for the participants' individual needs thereby introducing treatment variability.

5.3. Neck pain

In a chronic neck pain study Pilates and yoga exercise groups were compared following 12 sessions [86]. Pilates and yoga were equally effective for decreasing pain and disability, although surprisingly there were no changes on the more objective range of motion and postural measurements. And, again, variability was introduced across individuals with modifications being made by a physiotherapist.

5.4. Headaches

In a randomized controlled study on migraine headaches a medication group was compared to a medication plus yoga group who received 12 weeks of yoga training [87]. The yoga group experienced a significant reduction in headache frequency and severity, although no changes were noted in blood nitric oxide levels. In another randomized controlled trial conventional care was compared to conventional care plus yoga with yoga practice sessions occurring five days a week for six weeks [88]. Headache frequency and intensity were reduced to a greater degree in the yoga group and an increase in vagal tone along with reduced sympathetic activity were also noted in the yoga group. This finding supports the notion that yoga is a form of self-massage that would be expected to increase vagal activity just as massage increases vagal activity and is thought to be the mediating variable for many of the therapeutic effects of yoga [1].

5.5. Premenstrual syndrome

Cognitive function and EEG recordings, but surprisingly no measures of pain, were assessed before and after a yoga session in a group of women with premenstrual syndrome [89]. Interestingly, alpha brain waves increased after voga, suggesting that the participants felt more relaxed after yoga and they performed better with greater accuracy and shorter reaction time on attention tasks.

5.6. Low back pain

In a randomized controlled study on chronic low back pain, an Iyengar yoga group was compared to a conventional exercise group [90]. The yoga group was trained in 29 different yoga poses which are typically held for longer periods in Iyengar yoga, making it a more strenuous form of yoga and likely equivalent to exercise in its intensity. Both groups showed significant reductions in pain and improvement in quality of life measures, although the yoga group surprisingly showed almost twice the reduction in pain as compared to the exercise group.

5.7. Potential underlying mechanisms for pain reduction following yoga

Several researchers have explored potential underlying mechanisms for pain reduction following yoga. One study examined pain perception applying a peg to the middle finger, earlobe and second toe before and after a 60—minute yoga session [91]. While 67% of the yoga participants expected to perceive less pain after a yoga session, only 40% of the participants actually experienced less pain after yoga as compared to before the session. As the authors suggested, other explanations are needed for the hypoalgesic effects of yoga.

In a study on mediators of yoga and stretching for low back pain, physical factors were explored (including hours of back exercise per week), cognitive factors (including fear avoidance, body awareness and self-efficacy), affective factors (including psychological distress, perceived stress, positive states of mind and sleep) and physiological factors (including cortisol) [92]. The findings suggested that 36% of the pain reduction following 12 weeks of yoga was mediated by increased self -efficacy, 18% by sleep disturbance, 9% by hours of back exercise and 61% by a combination of the other factors. For stretching, 23% of the effect was mediated by increased self-efficacy, 14% by days of back exercise and 61% by the combination of other mediators.

More objective measures have been assessed including serotonin and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in one study and magnetic resonance imaging techniques in another study. In the study on serotonin and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), following 12 weeks (3 times/week) of yoga, those with low back pain showed not only increased back flexibility but also increased serotonin and serum BDNF [93]. In the magnetic resonance imaging study, yogis tolerated pain more than twice as long as individually matched controls and had more gray matter in many brain regions [94].

6. Auto-immune conditions (see Table 6)

Yoga has been used as a complementary treatment for several auto-immune conditions in recent studies. These auto-immune conditions include asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Type II diabetes, multiple sclerosis, irritable bowel syndrome and chronic fatigue syndrome.

6.1. Asthma

Typically in the asthma studies forced vital capacity (FVC), peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR) and forced expiratory volume (FEV) have increased. In one of the asthma studies these measures increased in the short term and PEFR even increased at a 36 month follow-up following an 11 day hospital yoga program [95]. In a systematic review and meta-analysis study on 14 randomized controlled trials, asthma symptoms, PEFR and FVC improved for the yoga groups as compared with usual care. When yoga was compared with psychological interventions there was a greater PEFR increase for the yoga group [96]. Yoga has also shown better improvement on biochemical variables including a greater decrease in total leukocyte count in a randomized controlled study after six months of yoga [97].

6.2. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

In a systematic review and meta-analysis study on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, five randomized controlled trials were included [98]. These suggested that yoga significantly increased forced expiratory volume in 1 s and 6 min walking distance, suggesting improved lung function and exercise capacity.

6.3. Type II diabetes

Many yoga studies have been conducted with patients with type II diabetes mellitus. Typically the fasting and postprandial blood sugar have decreased following yoga. For example, in one study fasting and postprandial blood sugar decreased in both type II diabetes and normal volunteers after six months of yoga training [99]. Another study showed a decrease in fasting and postprandial blood sugar as early as eight weeks of yoga [100]. However, the yoga sessions included not only yoga poses but also breathing exercises and meditation, thus confounding the effects of the yoga poses. And, when yoga was compared to walking, no group differences were noted on fasting postprandial blood glucose, although the yoga group had lower weight, waist circumference and body mass index [100]. In a systematic review on randomized controlled trials, 25 trials met criteria [101]. These trials that included 2170 participants suggested improved glycemic control, lipid levels, oxidative stress, blood pressure and pulmonary and autonomic function. In addition there was a reduced need for medication and improved mood and sleep. Some have argued that these yoga effects on type II diabetes derive from parasympathetic activation and decreased stress including less HPA axis activation leading to better metabolic and psychological profiles, increased insulin sensitivity and improved glucose tolerance and lipid metabolism [102].

Table 6

Auto-immune conditions that have been improved by yoga: conditions, reference numbers, trial types, comparison groups and primary reasons.

Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Auto-immune				
Asthma	95	Single arm		>FVC & FEV
	96	META	Usual care	Follow-up > PEFR
	97	RCT	Usual care	<leukocytes< td=""></leukocytes<>
COPD	98	REV		>PEFR &>6 min walk
Type II diabetes	99	RCT	Usual care	<fasting &postprand="" blood="" sugar<="" td=""></fasting>
• •	100	RCT	Walking	<weight &="" bmi<="" td=""></weight>
	101	REV	Ū.	>glycemic control
Multiple sclerosis	103	Single arm		>balance & walking speed
-	104	RCT	Aerobics	>quality of life
	105	META	Usual care	<fatigue< td=""></fatigue<>
			Exercise	No differences
	106	RCT	Walking	No differences
	108	RCT	Indiv. Vs. Group	No differences
Irritable bowel	109	RCT	Waitlist	<pain< td=""></pain<>
	110	RCT	Waitlist	No differences
Chronic fatigue	111	RCT	Waitlist	<fatigue< td=""></fatigue<>

6.4. Multiple sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is reputedly the most common autoimmune inflammatory disease of the central nervous system, affecting approximately 2.3 million people worldwide [103]. The onset of the disease is typically at 20–40 years, there is a greater incidence in women, and individuals with MS experience several symptoms including fatigue, imbalance, spasticity, chronic pain, bladder and bowel dysfunction and cognitive, visual and speech impairments, depression, sensory disturbance and impaired mobility.

Several studies have been conducted with multiple sclerosis. For example, in one study, after 12 weeks of biweekly yoga, significant improvement was noted in fatigue, balance, step length and walking speed [103]. However, this study did not include a control group, treatment comparison or an active comparison group. Nonetheless, when yoga was compared, for example, to an aerobics group, the mean quality of life score was higher for the yoga versus the aerobics group [104]. In a systematic review and meta-analysis, seven randomized controlled trials comparing yoga with usual care showed greater improvement for the yoga group on fatigue and mood [105]. However, no short or long-term effects of yoga were noted when yoga was compared to exercise. When yoga was compared to walking, both conditions yielded similar reductions in total mood disturbance scores [106]. When treadmill walking was compared to yoga, however, yoga had greater effects on reaction time during a cognitive task [107]. When the effectiveness of individual versus group sessions were compared there was no significant difference between the conditions on fatigue scores [108].

6.5. Irritable bowel syndrome

Irritable bowel syndrome is the most common gastrointestinal disorder [109]. In this six week twice per week lyengar yoga study individuals with irritable bowel syndrome were compared with a waitlist control group. The attrition for this study was 24% and the attendance averaged 75%. The yoga group had a significant reduction in bowel syndrome symptoms including pain, constipation and nausea and the symptom reduction was maintained at the two month follow-up assessment. In a comparison between 16-biweekly sessions of lyengar yoga and walking, positive effects were noted for both groups [110]. Irritable bowel syndrome severity symptoms decreased for the yoga group, while overall G.I.

Table 7

Immune conditions that have been improved by yoga: conditions, reference numbers, trial types, comparison groups and primary results.

symptoms decreased for the walking group. However, at a six month follow-up the walking group continued to benefit, while the yoga group showed no sustained improvement, probably because the walking group reported walking more often than the yoga group practiced yoga.

6.6. Chronic fatigue syndrome

Yoga has also been effective for patients with chronic fatigue syndrome in at least one study [111]. In this study, fatigue scores decreased for the yoga versus the waitlist control group following biweekly 20 min sessions with the yoga instructor as well as daily in-home sessions for approximately two months.

7. Immune disorders (see Table 7)

Yoga has recently been studied for its immune effects mainly on the cytokines, both the pro-inflammatory and the antiinflammatory cytokines. And several yoga studies have been conducted with groups of individuals experiencing HIV and breast cancer.

7.1. Cytokines

In a randomized controlled study yoga was provided for 90 min once a week over 12 weeks with the suggestion that it be practiced at home on a daily basis for 40 min with the help of a DVD [112]. The voga versus the control group experienced a significant reduction in plasma levels of epinephrine and increased serotonin. The control group showed decreased immune-related (anti-inflammatory) cytokines including interleukin-12. Unfortunately the yoga group was not compared to an active treatment group and the yoga protocol included not only poses but also breathing exercises and meditation thus confounding the physical effects of yoga. In another randomized controlled trial both pro-inflammatory and anti—inflammatory cytokines were assayed [113]. By the end of the study the yoga group had a significantly lower level of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 and a higher level of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10. This suggested better immune function for the yoga group. However, once again the comparison control group was not an active control.

Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Immune conditions				
Cytokines	112	RCT	Control	<epinephrine &="">Serotonin</epinephrine>
	113	RCT	Control	<pro-inflamm &="">anti-inflamm</pro-inflamm>
HIV	114	RCT	Control	>Quality of life
	115	RCT	Usual care	>Quality of life
	116	RCT	Usual care	<depression &="">CD4 cells</depression>
Pediatric cancer	117	Single arm		<anxiety< td=""></anxiety<>
	118	Single arm		>Physical activity
Breast cancer	119	RCT	Usual care	<fatigue< td=""></fatigue<>
	120	RCT	Usual care	<pain< td=""></pain<>
	121	RCT	Exercise	>Activity & <sleep disturbance<="" td=""></sleep>
	122	RCT	Exercise	No differences
	123	RCT	Stretching	< Depression & sleep disturbance
	124	RCT	Stretching	>Phys funct & <cortisol< td=""></cortisol<>
	125	RCT	Aerobics	>Muscle strength
	126	Single arm		<arm td="" volume<=""></arm>
	127	Single arm		No differ. arm volume
	128	RCT	Health edu	<pro &="">anti-inflamm</pro>
Colorectal cancer	129	RCT	Waitlist	<sleep disturbance<="" td=""></sleep>

7.2. HIV

Of the three HIV studies, two simply measured quality of life and the third study assayed the critical CD4 count variable, reflecting the progression of the disease. In the first study, individuals with HIV who also used crack cocaine attended 60 min twice per week voga sessions for two months and were compared to a no-contact control group [114]. The voga group showed improved quality of life and better scores on the perceived stress scale and the impact of events scale, although their cortisol levels did not change. And in the other quality of life study, yoga was compared with standard care [115]. The yoga group trained for six days to prepare for daily practice at home (30 min sessions). Significant improvements were noted on all 3 of the health-related domains-the physical, psychological and independence domains. In the study that assessed CD-4 cell counts, integrated yoga sessions were given 60 min a day, six days a week for one month and this group was compared to a usual care control group [116]. The yoga group experienced a significant decrease in depression scores and a significant increase in CD4 cell counts. In contrast, the control group experienced increased depression scores and decreased CD4 cell counts. Unfortunately, once again the integrated yoga sessions included not only poses but also breathing exercises, relaxation techniques and meditation, confounding the question of which type of intervention is effective. In addition, the control group was an inactive control group.

7.3. Cancer

The yoga for cancer data are also inconclusive. Regarding pediatric cancer, one group of researchers had difficulty recruiting children and adolescents (32% enrollment), although attendance at the 6-week program was excellent (90%) [117]. After the six week program the children had a significant decrease in anxiety scores. In the other recent study on pediatric cancer the recruitment, retention and attendance rates were good for a 12 week yoga program (two times per week) [118]. The children showed an increase in quality of life, functional mobility, hamstring flexibility and physical activity levels at the end of the program. Both of these studies were repeated measures within subjects studies as opposed to randomized controlled trials, suggesting very tentative results.

7.4. Breast cancer

The lion's share of the recent yoga for cancer research has been conducted on breast cancer. In a randomized controlled trial comparing yoga and usual care, fatigue was reduced [119] and in a similar trial, musculoskeletal pain was reduced [120]. These trials were limited given that the yoga poses were combined with breathing exercises and meditation, as in many of the other randomized controlled trials. The same confound occurred in a yoga versus exercise study in which the yoga group showed greater physical activity and less sleep disturbance [121]. In another yoga versus exercise study no group differences were noted on decreased body fat [122]. In a yoga versus a stretching versus a waitlist control group, at the end of the six treatments the yoga group showed the greatest reduction in depressive symptoms and sleep problems [123]. And in another yoga versus stretching versus waitlist control group study, at the end of the six week treatment period (3 times a week) and at a six month follow-up period the yoga group showed greater increases in physical functioning and greater decreases in cortisol levels [124]. However, when yoga was compared to an aerobics exercise program (30 min a week for six weeks) similar effects were noted for both groups [125]. These included increased muscle strength and performance on the 6 min walk test.

Yoga has also been noted to decrease lymphedema in the upper extremities of women with breast cancer [126]. This decreased arm volume was significant but the sample was small and this was a pre-posttest design without a control group. In another study that was a randomized controlled trial for yoga (again for 8 weeks), the voga group had a greater decrease in tissue induration of the affected upper arm but there was no difference in arm volume/ lymphedema ([127]. Further, at a four week follow-up period there were no longer any positive effects. This sample, however, was also small, highlighting the need for further arm volume studies. Both increased pro-inflammatory-related genes and increased antiinflammatory related genes have resulted from a 12-week lyengar yoga versus a health education control condition [128] which could explain the mixed results just described. Yoga, by virtue of its sustained high energy poses, and the rest periods in between, could result in mixed effects depending on the ratio of rigor to rest.

7.5. Colorectal cancer

The only other cancer publications during this recent period included a study on colorectal cancer in which fewer sleep disturbances were noted following the end of the yoga intervention (90 min once weekly for 10 weeks) suggesting long-term effects [129]. However, this study featured high attrition and low adherence. Another miscellaneous study on cancer featured laughter yoga (thought to massage the internal organs) which was noted to decrease stress from chemotherapy [130]. And, finally a survey was conducted about oncologists recommending yoga to their cancer patients [131]. Only a small number of the respondents recommended yoga, claiming that more research was needed to document positive effects of yoga.

8. Aging conditions (see Table 8)

Yoga has also been assessed for several aging problems including balance, mobility and sleep quality. The most common aging conditions have also been studied for yoga effects including osteoporosis, Parkinson's and pulmonary disease.

8.1. Mobility and gait speed

In a pretest-posttest design yoga was assessed for postural control, mobility, and gait speed following a 12 -week biweekly 60 min yoga class [132]. By the end of the 12 -week intervention improvements were seen in mobility, postural control and gait speed and 80% attendance was reported.

8.2. Balance

Several studies have been conducted on balance in older adults, as the fear of falling and balance problems are prevalent in that age group. In one study individuals were randomly assigned to yoga practice sessions or a control group that received no intervention [133]. The yoga group performed better on the fall and on the balance scale. In another randomized controlled trial, tai chi and yoga were compared [134]. Yoga was as effective as tai chi in improving balance and postural stability. In another randomized controlled trial comparing yoga and tai chi, yoga and tai chi were both effective for reducing falls, although the yoga group had a greater reduction in pain [135]. In a systematic review of balance studies, 15 studies showed positive results on at least one balance measure [136]. In a systematic review and meta-analysis six trials involving 307 participants showed positive effects for balance and for physical mobility [137].

Table	
Table	

Aging conditions that have been improved by yoga: conditions, reference numbers, trial types, comparison groups and primary results.

Condition	Reference	Trial	Comparison	Primary results
Aging				
Mobility & gait	132	Single arm		>Mobility & gait speed
Balance	133	RCT	Control	>Balance
	134	RCT	Tai Chi	No differences
	135	RCT	Tai Chi	>Balance
	136	REVIEW		>Balance
	137	META		>Balance
Sleep	138	RCT	Waitlist	>Sleep & <depression< td=""></depression<>
Osteoporosis	139	Single arm		>Bone absorption
	140	RCT	Usual care	>Bone absorption
Parkinson's	141	Single arm		>Sit to stand
	142	RCT	Usual care	<diastolic bp<="" td=""></diastolic>
	143	RCT	Power training	No differences
Respir. Funct.	144	RCT	Inactive	>FVC, <hr &="" rr<="" td=""/>

8.3. Sleep quality

In a study on sleep quality, older adults with insomnia who engaged in twice per week yoga classes for 12 weeks had better sleep quality, sleep efficiency, sleep latency and duration than an inactive control group [138] In addition, their depression, anxiety, stress and anger scores were reduced.

8.4. Osteoporosis

A couple recent studies on yoga for osteoporosis have suggested increased bone absorption based on x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA scan). In one study on osteoporotic, postmenopausal women, improvement was noted in the DEXA scan following a 6 month yoga program of weight-bearing and non-weight bearing poses, breathing exercises and meditation [139]. Not only was this study confounded by the different forms of yoga but it was also limited by its pre-post, non-control group design. When a control group design was used, an 8-month Ashtanga yoga program (60 min sessions twice per week) had a small effect on bone formation but no effects on bone resorption [140]. This result is consistent with the result of the 6-month study just mentioned, although the women in this study were not osteoporotic.

8.5. Parkinson's

A few studies on yoga with Parkinson's have recently appeared in the literature. In one study on an 8-week yoga program, improvements were noted on sit to stand tests [141]. However, this was a pre-posttest, single arm study not a randomized controlled study. In a yoga versus control group study, following a twiceweekly 12 week program, significant improvement was noted on the Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale, for diastolic blood pressure and average forced vital capacity [142]. However, this was a small sample with limited power. When two active groups (power training and high-speed yoga) were compared to a non-active control group, after 12 weeks of twice a week classes, both active groups showed significant improvement on balance, single leg stance and postural sway tests with no differences between the active groups [143].

8.6. Respiratory function

Yoga has also been assessed for improving respiratory function in the elderly [144]. In this study, 65-minute yoga sessions were held 3 times/week for 12 weeks. At the end of the 12-week period, heart rate and respiratory rate were significantly decreased in the yoga group, and tidal volume, vital capacity and 1-min ventilation were increased. Unfortunately, yoga was compared to an inactive control group in this study.

9. Potential underlying mechanisms

Potential underlying mechanisms for the general effects of yoga include enhanced vagal activity and changes in brain wave activity. Increased vagal activity has been noted in at least 4 studies. In a pre-post, single arm design yoga was practiced daily for one month under the direction of a yoga instructor [145]. At the end of the month the low-frequency (LF) power spectrum was reduced as was the LF/high-frequency (HF) ratio, suggesting greater vagal activity or parasympathetic control. Unfortunately this was not only a noncontrolled study but the combination of yoga poses, breathing exercises and meditation also confounded the results of this study. In a randomized controlled trial, the yoga group versus the control group showed reduced work-related stress and a significant increase in heart rate variability (vagal activity) following a 12-week program [146]. In a five-month program (90 min per day 6 days per week) the yoga group versus a control group showed a significant increase in heart rate variability (vagal activity) and a reduction in the LF/HF ratio [147]. The yoga group also showed increased alpha, beta and theta EEG band powers and a reduction in delta band power suggesting enhanced memory and concentration and synchronization of brain activity. In a review of 15 studies on the effects of yoga on brain waves and structural changes and activation, increases in gray matter were noted along with increased amygdala and frontal cortex activation [148].

10. Limitations of studies and future directions

Surprisingly, many of the same limitations or potential confounds we reviewed in our 2010 review paper continue to be limitations/confounds of the yoga literature several years later [1]. One of the most significant continuing problems regarding the interventions is that yoga is most often an integrated practice of poses, breathing exercises and meditation. Although the poses predominate most yoga sessions, making yoga a type of physical exercise, it is difficult to parse the effects of the poses, breathing and meditation. That could be one reason why yoga, while thought to be a moderate intensity exercise, is sometimes less intense as it is coupled with still meditation resulting in lesser effects than those experienced by an active exercise group. Or to the contrary, both poses and meditation have been noted to have parasympathetic effects, so each component might have additive, positive effects. The poses, breathing and meditation may have synergistic effects that are critical to the yoga practice, but they have not yet been deconstructed to determine their individual effects. So it remains unknown which aspects or if all aspects are leading to the positive physical, physiological, cognitive and emotional effects. But for studies to at least be replicable, more detailed descriptions of these components are needed in terms of the physical poses, breathing and meditation and the duration of each component. Oxygen consumption measures on each component might also indicate the exercise intensity of each component.

A second problem is that many different types of yoga, e.g. Hatha, Ashtanga, Vinyasa and Iyengar yoga, have been used with different conditions. Iyengar yoga is thought to be more intense, as the poses are held for longer durations, and Ashtanga yoga is characterized by continuous movements, making these more intense forms of yoga. The different yoga types need to be compared in future studies as it is conceivable that a specific type of yoga may be more beneficial for a specific condition. Yoga sessions are also highly variable including individual versus group practice sessions and the dosage including length of class (20–90 min), the frequency of classes (daily, weekly) and duration of intervention (weeks, months). Although bibliometric analyses have established medians and ranges for yoga classes, the ranges are very large, and different bibliometric analyses on different conditions on different time cohorts yield different parameters.

Several methodological problems relate to the research designs. First, samples vary in their participants with some having virtual beginners and others experienced yogis. Groups would need to be carefully balanced on self-selection factors such as these as yogis would likely be in better condition at baseline and more motivated to practice between intervention sessions. Secondly, many studies are single arm, pre-post studies, others are mixed design (experimental versus control or waitlist control), and still others are active yoga/inactive control comparisons such as educational groups. Often those comparisons have of course favored the yoga group, but when yoga is compared to an active comparison group such as an exercise group, the yoga group advantage often disappears. For yoga to be adopted into wider practice documentation is needed that it is as effective as other forms of exercise.

The methodologically better literature is comprised of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) comparing yoga with active exercise groups, systematic reviews of the RCTs and finally metaanalyses. Without random assignment, self-selection occurs especially since yoga practice requires physical activity and attention. Often meta-analyses could not be performed as there were a limited number of RCTs that met criteria and that were bias free and the RCTs had such variable protocols and assessments that they could not be grouped for meta-analyses.

The variability in assessment protocols has been problematic for grouping even RCTs in systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Stress and mood and pain have been mostly self-reported, which has problems of its own, not being thought to be as reliable as more objective measures. But different self-report measures are used for different conditions and by different cultures. In addition to lacking standardization of the less objective measures across studies, the gold standard measures for a condition have rarely been included, e.g. CD4 levels for HIV and Natural killer cells for breast cancer. Physical and physiological measures are also rarely used, e.g. body mass index, blood pressure, cortisol and other hormones (relatively easy to be assayed from saliva samples) that are often more pertinent for different conditions than mood states.

Future research should use randomized controlled studies in which yoga is compared to active exercise groups. Having established the benefits of yoga makes it ethically questionable to assign participants to inactive control groups. Shorter sessions should be investigated for cost-effectiveness and for daily practice. Multiple physical and physiological measures need to be added to the selfreport research protocols and potential underlying mechanisms need to be further explored. In the interim, the studies reviewed here highlight the therapeutic effects of yoga, a practice that could come to be called yoga therapy.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my collaborators, the individuals who participated in these studies and the research associates who assisted us. This research was supported by funding from Johnson and Johnson and from Massage Envy.

References

- T. Field, Yoga clinical research review, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 17 (2011) 1–8.
- [2] H. Cramer, L. Ward, A. Steel, R. Lauche, G. Dobos, Y. Zhang, Prevalence, patterns, and predictors of yoga use: results of a U.S. nationally representative survey, Am. J. Prev. Med. 50 (2016) 230–235.
- [3] C.L. Park, T. Braun, T. Siegel, Who practices yoga? A systematic review of demographic, health-related, and psychosocial factors associated with yoga practice, J. Behav. Med. 38 (2015) 460–471.
- [4] T. Matsushita, T. Oka, A large-scale survey of adverse events experienced in yoga classes, Biopsychosoc. Med. 18 (2015) 9.
- [5] H. Cramer, L. Ward, R. Saper, D. Fishbein, G. Dobos, R. Lauche, The safety of yoga: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials, Am. J. Epidemiol. 182 (2015) 281–293.
- [6] M.C. McCall, In search of yoga: research trends in a western medical database, Int. J. Yoga 7 (2014) 4–8.
- [7] P.E. Jeter, J. Slutsky, N. Singh, S.B. Khalsa, Yoga a therapeutic intervention: a bibliometric analysis of published research studies from 1967 to 2013, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 21 (2015) 586–592.
- [8] Cramer H, Lauche R, Dobos G. Characteristics of randomized controlled trials of yoga: a bibliometric analysis.
- [9] C.L. Park, E. Groessl, M. Maiya, A. Sarkin, S.V. Eisen, K. Riley, A.R. Elwy, Comparison groups in yoga research: a systematic review and critical evaluation of the literature, Complement. Ther. Med. 22 (2014) 920–929.
- [10] M. de Maniincor, A. Bensoussan, C. Smith, P. Fahey, S. Bourchier, Establishing key components of yoga interventions for reducing depression and anxiety, and improving well-being: a Delphi method study, BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 15 (2015) 85.
- [11] G.S. Birdee, S.J. Sohl, K. Wallston, Development and psychometric properties of the yoga self-efficacy scale (YSES), BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 16 (2016) 3.
- [12] S.B. Khalsa, B. Butzer, Yoga in school settings: a research review, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. (2016) (Epub ahead of print).
- [13] C. Ferreira-Vorkapic, J.M. Feitoza, M. Marchioro, J. Simoes, E. Kozasa, S. Telles, Are there benefits from teaching yoga at schools? A systematic review of randomized control trials of yoga-based interventions, Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [14] B. Butzer, D. Day, A. Potts, C. Ryan, S. Coulombe, B. Davies, K. Weidknecht, M. Ebert, L. Flynn, S.B. Khalsa, Effects of a classroom-based yoga intervention on cortisol and behavior in second-and third-grade students: a pilot study, J. Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. 20 (2015) 41–49.
- [15] Chia-Liang Dai, Laura A. Nabors, Rebecca A. Vidourek, Keith A. Kin, Ching-Chen Chen, Evaluation of an afterschool yoga program for children, Int. J. Yoga 8 (2015) 160–161.
- [16] S. Richter, M. Tietjens, S. Ziereis, S. Querfurth, P. Jansen, Yoga training in junior primary school-aged children has an impact on physical selfperceptions and problem-related behavior, Front. Psychol. 7 (2016) 203.
- [17] S.C. Haden, L. Daly, M. Hagins, A randomized controlled trial comparing the impact of yoga and physical education on the emotional and behavioral functioning of middle school children, Focus Altern. Complement. Ther. 19 (2014) 148–155.
- [18] L.A. Daly, S.C. Haden, M. Hagins, N. Papouchis, P.M. Ramirez, Yoga and emotion regulation in high school students: a randomized controlled trial, Evid. Based Complement, Altern. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [19] B. Butzer, M. van Over, J.J. Noggle Taylor, S.B. Khalsa, Yoga may mitigate decreases in high school grades, Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [20] S.J. McIlvain, B. Miller, B.A. Lawhead, C. Barbosa-Leiker, A. Anderson, Piloting yoga and assessing outcomes in a residential behavioural health unit, J. Psychiatr. Ment. Health Nurs. 22 (2015) 199–207.
- [21] R.B. Gaskins, E. Jennings, H. Thind, B.M. Becker, B.C. Bock, Acute and cumulative effects of vinyasa yoga on affect and stress among college students participating in an Eight-week yoga program: a pilot study, Int. J. Yoga Ther. 24 (2014) 63–70.
- [22] C. Brems, A yoga stress reduction intervention for university faculty, staff, and graduate students, Int. J. Yoga Ther. 25 (2015) 61–77.

- [23] C. Brems, L. Justice, K. Sulenes, L. Girasa, J. Ray, M. Davis, J. Freitas, M. Shean, D. Colgan, Improving access to yoga: barriers to and motivators for practice among health professions students, Adv. Mind Body Med. 29 (2015) 6–13.
- [24] D.J. Amin, M. Goodman, The effects of selected asanas in lyengar yoga on flexibility: pilot study, J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 18 (2014) 399–404.
- [25] S. Rachiwong, P. Panasiriwong, J. Saosomphop, W. Widjaja, A. Ajjimaporn, Effects of modified hatha yoga in industrial rehabilitation on physical fitness and stress of injured workers, J. Occup. Rehabil. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [26] M. Ni, K. Mooney, K. Harriell, A. Balachandran, J. Signorile, Core muscle function during specific yoga poses, Complement. Ther. Med. 22 (2014) 235–243.
- [27] M.J. Polsgrove, B.M. Eggleston, R.J. Lockyer, Impact of 10-weeks of yoga practice on flexibility and balance of college athletes, Int. J. Yoga 9 (2016) 27–34.
- [28] P.T. Farinatti, E.C. Rubini, E.B. Silva, J.H. Vanfraechem, Flexibility of the elderly after one-year practice of yoga and calisthenics, Int. J. Yoga 24 (2014) 71–77.
- [29] N.P. Gothe, E. McAuley, Yoga is as good as stretching-strengthening exercises in improving functional fitness outcomes: results from a randomized controlled trial, J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 71 (2016) 406–411.
- [30] M. Grabara, J. Szopa, Effects of hatha yoga exercises on spine flexibility in women over 50 years old, J. Phys. Ther. Sci. 27 (2015) 361–365.
- [31] J.C. Shiraishi, L.M. Bezerra, Effects of yoga practice on muscular endurance in young women, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 22 (2016) 69–73.
- [32] N.P. Gothe, A.F. Kramer, E. McAuley, The effects of an 8-week hatha yoga intervention on executive function in older adults, J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 69 (2014) 1109–1116.
- [33] K. Luu, P.A. Hall, Hatha yoga and executive function: a systematic review, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 22 (2016) 125–133.
- [34] N.P. Gothe, E. McAuley, Yoga and cognition: a meta-analysis of chronic and acute effects, Psychosom. Med. 77 (2015) 784-797.
- [35] R.B. Gaskins, E. Jennings, H. Thind, B.M. Becker, B.C. Bock, Acute and cumulative effects of vinyasa yoga on affect and stress among college students participating in an eight-week yoga program: a pilot study, Int. J. Yoga 24 (2014) 63–70.
- [36] T. Gard, M. Taquet, R. Dixit, B.K. Holzel, S.W. Lazar, Greater widespread functional connectivity of the caudate in older adults who practice kripalu yoga and vipassana meditation than in controls, Front. Hum. Neurosci. 9 (2015) 137.
- [37] N.A. Peters, R.A. Schlaff, Examining the energy cost and intensity level of prenatal yoga, Int. J. Yoga 9 (2016) 77–80.
- [38] R.L. Polis, D. Gussman, Y.H. Kuo, Yoga in pregnancy: an examination and fetal responses to 26 yoga postures, Obstet. Gynecol. 126 (2015) 1237–1241.
- [39] Q. Jiang, Z. Wu, L. Zhou, J. Dunlop, P. Chen, Effects of yoga intervention during pregnancy: a review for current status, Am. J. Perinatol. 32 (2015) 503–514.
- [40] A. Rakhshani, R. Nagarathna, A. Mhaskar, A. Thomas, S. Gunasheela, Effects of yoga on utero-fetal-placental circulation in high-risk pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial, Adv. Prev. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [41] K.M. Sheffield, C.L. Woods-Giscombe, Efficacy, feasibility, and acceptability of perinatal yoga on women's mental health and well-being: a systematic literature review, J. Holist. Nurs. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [42] H. Gong, C. Ni, X. Shen, T. Wu, C. Jiang, Yoga for prenatal depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis, BMC Psychiatry 15 (2015) 14.
- [43] J.J. Newham, A. Wittkowski, J. Hurley, J.D. Aplin, M. Westwood, Effects of antenatal yoga on maternal anxiety and depression: a randomized controlled trial, Depress Anxiety 31 (2014) 631–640.
- [44] L.A. Uebelacker, C.L. Battle, K.A. Sutton, S.R. Magee, I.W. Miller, A pilot randomized controlled trial comparing prenatal yoga to perinatal health education for antenatal depression, Arch. Womens Ment. Health (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [45] T. Field, M. Diego, J. Delgado, L. Medina, Yoga and social support reduce prenatal depression, anxiety and cortisol, J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 17 (2013) 397–403.
- [46] T. Field, M. Diego, Maria Hernandez-Reif, L. Medina, J. Delgado, A. Hernandez, Yoga and massage therapy reduce prenatal depression and prematurity, J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 16 (2012) 204–209.
- [47] T. Field, M. Diego, J. Delgado, L. Medina, Tai chi/yoga reduces prenatal depression, anxiety and sleep disturbances, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 19 (2013) 6–10.
- [48] M. Diego, T. Field, M. Hernandez-Reif, Prepartum, postpartum and chronic depression effects on neonatal behavior, Inf. Behav. Dev. 28 (2005) 155–164.
- [49] M.M. Buttner, R.L. Brock, M.W. O'Hara, S. Stuart, Efficacy of yoga for depressed postpartum women: a randomized controlled trial, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 21 (2015) 94–100.
- [50] S. Bershadsky, L. Trumpfheller, H.B. Kimble, D. Pipaloff, I.S. Yim, The effect of prenatal Hatha yoga on affect, cortisol and depressive symptoms, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 20 (2014) 106–113.
- [51] A. Ramamoorthy, S.J. Jeevakarunyam, S. janardhanan, N. Jeddy, S.A. Vasan, A. Raja, P. Ikram, Survey on utility of yoga as an alternative therapy for occupational hazards among dental practioners, J. Nat. Sci. Biol. Med. 6 (2015) 149–152.
- [52] R. Fang, X. Li, A regular yoga intervention for staff nurse sleep quality and work stress: a randomized controlled trial, J. Clin. Nurs. 24 (2015) 3374–3379.
- [53] B.H. Krishna, G.S. Keerthi, C.K. Kumar, N. Reddy, Association of leukocyte telomere length with oxidative stress in yoga practioners, J. Clin. Diagn. Res.

(2015) (Epub ahead of print).

- [54] K.E. Riley, C.L. Park, How does yoga reduce stress? A systematic review of mechanisms of change and guide to future inquiry, Health Psychol. Rev. 15 (2015) 1–18.
- [55] M. Sharma, Yoga as an alternative and complementary approach for stress management: a systematic review, J. Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. 19 (2014) 59–67.
- [56] J.M. Johnston, T. Minami, D. Greenwald, C. Li, K. Reinhardt, S.B. Khalsa, Yoga for military service personnel with PTSD: a single arm study, Psychol. Trauma 7 (2015) 555–562.
- [57] F. Jindani, N. Turner, S.B. Khalsa, A yoga intervention for posttraumatic stress: a preliminary randomized control trial, Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [58] A. Rhodes, J. Spinazzola, B. van der Kolk, Yoga for adult women with chronic PTSD: a long term follow-up study, J. Altern. Complement. Med. (2016) (Epub ahead of print).
- [59] S. Reddy, A.M. Dick, M.R. Gerber, K. Mitchell, The effect of a yoga intervention on alcohol and drug abuse risk in veteran and civilian women with posttraumatic stress disorder, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 20 (2014) 750–756.
- [60] W. Duan-porter, R.R. Coeytaux, J. McDuffe, A. Goode, P. Sharma, H. Mennella, A. Nagi, J.W. Williams Jr., Evidence map of yoga for depression, anxiety and posttraumatic stress disorder, J. Phys. Act. Health (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [61] L.M. Mullur, J.P. Khodnapur, S. Bagali, M. Aithala, G.B. Dhanakshirur, Role of yoga in modifying anxiety level in women, Indian J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 58 (2014) 92–95.
- [62] C.F. Vorkapic, B. Range, Reducing the symptomatology of panic disorder: the effects of a yoga program alone and in combination with cognitivebehavioral therapy, Front. Psychiatry (2014) (Epub ahead).
- [63] M. de Manincor, A. Bensoussan, C. Smith, P. Fahey, S. Bourchier, Establishing key components of yoga interventions for reducing depression and anxiety, and improving well-being: a Delphi method study, BMC Complement. Altern. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- Altern. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
 [64] J. Thirthali, G.H. Naveen, M.G. Rao, S. Varambally, R. Christopher, B.N. Gangadhar, Cortisol and antidepressant effects of yoga, Indian J. Psychiatry 55 (2013) 405–408.
- [65] P.A. Kinser, R.K. Elswick, S. Kornstein, Potential long-term effects of a mindbody intervention for women with major depressive disorder: sustained mental health improvements with a pilot yoga intervention, Arch. Psychiatr. Nurs. 28 (2014) 377–383.
- [66] J. Medina, L. Hopkins, M. Powers, S.O. Baird, J. Smits, The effects of a Hatha yoga intervention on facets of distress tolerance, Cogn. Behav. Ther. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [67] S.O. Baird, L.B. Hopkins, J.L. Medina, D. Rosenfield, M.B. Powers, J.A. Smits, Distress tolerance as a predictor of adherence to a yoga intervention: moderating roles of BMI and body image, Behav. Modif. 40 (2016) 199–217.
- [68] K. Yang, K.A. James, Yoga, as a transitional platform to more active lifestyle: a 6-month pilot study in the USA, Health Promot Int. (2014) (Epub ahead of print).
- [69] R. Netam, R.K. Yadav, R. Khadgawat, K. Sarvottam, R. Yadav, Interleukin-6 vitamin D & diabetes risk- factors modified by a short-term yoga based lifestyle intervention in overweight/obese individuals, Indian J. Med. Res. 141 (2015) 775–782.
- [70] R. Thiyagarajan, P. Pal, G.K. Pal, S.K. Subramanian, M. Trakroo, Z. Bobby, A.K. Das, Additional benefit of yoga to a standard lifestyle modification on blood pressure in prehypertensive subjects: a randomized controlled study, Hypertens. Res. 38 (2015) 48–55.
- [71] M. Hagins, A. Rundle, N.S. Consedine, S.B. Khalsa, A randomized controlled trial comparing the effects of yoga with an active control on ambulatory blood pressure in individuals with prehypertension and stage 1 hypertension, J. Clin. Hypertens. (Greenwich) 16 (2014) 54–62.
- [72] P. Posadzki, H. Cramer, A. Kuzdzal, M.S. Lee, E. Ernst, Yoga for hypertension: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials, Complement. Ther. Med. 22 (2014) 511–522.
- [73] H. Cramer, H. Haller, R. Lauche, N. Steckhan, A. Michalsen, G. Dobos, A systematic review and meta-analysis of yoga for hypertension, Am. J. Hypertens. 27 (2014) 1146–1151.
- [74] M. Wolff, K. Rogers, B. Erdal, J.P. Chalmers, K. Sundquist, P. Midlov, Impact of a short home-based yoga programme on blood pressure in patients with hypertension: a randomized controlled trial in primary care, J. Hum. Hypertens. (2016) (Epub ahead of print).
- [75] A.B. Bhavanani, M. Ramanathan, R. Balaji, D. Pushpa, Comparative immediate effect of different yoga asanas on heart rate and blood pressure in healthy young volunteers, Int. J. Yoga 7 (2014) 89–95.
- [76] H. Cramer, The efficacy and safety of yoga in managing hypertension, Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes 124 (2016) 65–70.
- [77] Rk Yadav, D. Magan, R. Yadav, K. Sarvottam, R. Netam, High-density lipoprotein cholesterol increases following a short-term yoga based lifestyle intervention: a non-pharmacological modulation, Acta Cardiol. 69 (2014) 543–549.
- [78] N. Raghuram, V.R. Parachuri, M.V. Swarnagowri, S. Babu, R. Chaku, R. Kulkarni, B. Bhuyan, H. Bhargay, H.R. Nagendra, Yoga based cardiac rehabilitation after coronary artery bypass surgery: one-year results on LVEF, lipid profile and psychological states- a randomized controlled study, Indian Heart J. 66 (2014) 490–502.

- [79] H. Cramer, R. Lauche, H. Haller, N. Steckhan, A. Michalsen, G. Dobos, Effects of yoga on cardiovascular disease risk factors: a systematic review and metaanalysis, Int. J. Cardiol. 173 (2014) 170–183.
- [80] P. Chu, R.A. Gotink, G.Y. Yeh, S.J. Goldie, M.M. Hunink, The effectiveness of yoga in modifying risk factors for cardiovascular disease and metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials, Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol. 23 (2016) 291–307.
- [81] M. Sharma, Yoga as an alternative and complementary approach for arthritis: a systematic review, J. Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. 19 (2014) 51–58.
- [82] C. Cheung, J. Park, J.F. Wyman, Effects of yoga on symptoms, physical function, and psychosocial outcomes in adults with osteoarthritis: a focused review, Am. J. Phys. Rehabil. 95 (2016) 139–151.
- [83] J. Ebnexar, R. Nagarathna, B. Yogitha, H.R. Nagendra, Effects of an integrated approach of Hatha yoga therapy on functional disability, pain, and flexibility in osteoarthritis of te knee joint: a randomized controlled study, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 18 (2012) 463–472.
- [84] C. Cheung, J.F. Wyman, B. Resnick, K. Savik, Yoga for managing knee osteoarthritis in older women: a pilot randomized controlled trial, BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 14 (2014) 160.
- [85] S.H. Moonaz, C.O. Bingham 3rd, L. Wissow, S.J. Bartlett, Yoga in sedentary adults with arthritis: effects of a randomized controlled pragmatic trial, J. Rheumatol. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [86] K. Dunleavy, K. Kava, A. Goldberg, M.H. Malek, S.A. Talley, V. Tutag-Lehr, J. Hildreth, Comparative effectiveness of pilates and yoga group exercise interventions for chronic mechanical neck pain: quasi-randomized parallel controlled study, Physiotherapy (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [87] M.Z. Boroujeni, S.M. Marandi, F. Esfarjani, M. Sattar, V. Shaygannejad, S.H. Javanmard, Yoga intervention on blood NO in female migraineurs, Adv. Biomed. Res. 4 (2015) 259.
- [88] R. Kisan, M. Sujan, M. Adoor, R. Rao, A. Nalini, B.M. Kutty, B. Chindanda Murthy, T. Raju, T. Sathyapraprabha, Effect of yoga on migraine: a comprehensive study using clinical profile and cardiac autonomic functions, Int. J. Yoga 7 (2014) 126–132.
- [89] W.L. Wu, T.Y. Lin, I.H. Chu, J.M. Liang, The acute effects of yoga on cognitive measures for women with premenstrual syndromes, J. Altern. Complement. Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [90] G.S. Nambi, D. Inbasekaran, R. Khuman, S. Devi, Shanmugananth, K. Jagannathan, Changes in pain intensity and health related quality of life with lyengar yoga in nonspecific chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled study, Int. J. Yoga 7 (2014) 48–53.
- [91] M.L. Ferrari, S. Thuraisingam, R. von Kanel, N. Egloff, Expectations and effects of a single yoga session on pain and perception, Int. J. Yoga 8 (2015) 154–157.
- [92] K.J. Sherman, R.D. Wellman, A.J. Cook, D.C. Cherkin, R.M. Ceballos, Mediators of yoga and stretching for chronic low back pain, Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. (2013) (Epub ahead of print).
- [93] M. Lee, W. Moon, J. Kim, Effect of yoga on pain, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, and serotonin in premenopausal women with chronic low back pain, Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. (2014) (Epub ahead of print).
- [94] C. Villemure, M. Ceko, V.A. Cotton, M.C. Bushnell, Insular cortex mediates increased pain tolerance in yoga practioners, Cereb. Cortex 24 (2014) 2732–2740.
- [95] Y.C. Rao, A. Kadam, A. Jagannathan, N. Babina, R. Rao, H.R. Nagendra, Efficacy of naturopathy and yoga in bronchial asthma, Indian J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 58 (2014) 233–239.
- [96] H. Cramer, P. Posadzki, G. Dobos, J. Langhorst, Yoga for asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol. 112 (2014) 503–510.
- [97] S. Agnihotri, S. Kant, S. Kumar, R.K. Mishra, S.K. Mishra, Impact of yoga on biochemical profile of asthmatics: a randomized controlled study, Int. J. Yoga 7 (2014) 17–21.
- [98] X.C. Liu, L. Pan, Q. Hu, W.P. Dong, J.H. Yan, L. Dong, Effects of yoga training in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis, J. Thorac. Dis. 6 (2014) 795–802.
- [99] S.M. Chimkode, S.D. Kumaran, V.V. Kanhere, R. Shivanna, J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 9 (2015) 1–3.
- [100] K.A. McDermott, M.R. Rao, R. Nagarathna, E.J. Murphy, A. Burke, R.H. Nagendra, F.M. Hecht, A yoga intervention for type 2 diabetes risk reduction: a pilot randomized controlled trial, BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 14 (2014) 212.
- [101] K.E. Innes, T.K. Selfe, Yoga for adults with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of controlled trials, J. Diabetes Res. (2016) (Epub ahead of print).
- [102] V.P. Singh, B. Khandelwal, N.T. Sherpa, Psycho-neuro-endocrine-immune mechanisms of action of yoga in type II diabetes, Anc. Sci. Life 35 (2015) 12–17.
- [103] S. Guner, F. Inanici, Yoga therapy and ambulatory multiple sclerosis assessment of gait analysis parameters, fatigue and balance, J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 19 (2015) 72–81.
- [104] A. Hassanpour-Dehkordi, N. Jivad, Comparison of regular aerobic and yoga an te quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis, Med. J. Islam Repub. Iran. 28 (2014) 141.
- [105] H. Cramer, R. Lauche, H. Azizi, G. Dobos, J. Langhorst, Yoga for multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis, PLoS One (2014) (Epub ahead of print).

- [106] I Ensari, B.M. sandroff, R.W. Motl, Effects of single bouts of walking exercise and yoga on acute mood symptoms in people with multiple sclerosis, Int. J. MS Care 18 (2016) 1–8.
- [107] B.M. Sandroff, C.H. Hillman, R.H. Benedict, R.W. Motl, Acute effects of walking, cycling, and yoga exercise on cognition in cognitive processing speed, J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 37 (2015) 209–219.
- [108] S. Karbandi, M.A. Gorji, S.R. Mazloum, N. Norian Aghaei, Effectiveness of group versus individual yoga exercises on fatigue of patients with multiple sclerosis, N. Am. J. Med. Sci. 7 (2015) 266–270.
- [109] S. Evans, K.C. Lung, L.C. Seidman, B. Sternlieb, L.K. Zeltzer, J.C. Tsao, Lyengar yoga for adolescents and young adults with irritable bowel syndrome, J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 59 (2014) 244–253.
- [110] L. Shahabi, B.D. Naliboff, D. Shapiro, Self-regulation evaluation of therapeutic yoga and walking for patients with irritable bowel syndrome: a pilot study, Psychol. Health Med. 21 (2016) 176–188.
- [111] T. Oka, T. Tanahashi, T. Chijiwa, B. Lkhagvasuren, N. Sudo, K. Oka, Isometric yoga improves the fatigue and pain of patients with chronic fatigue syndrome who are resistant to conventional therapy: a randomized, controlled trial, Biopsychosoc. Med. 8 (2014) 27.
- [112] Lim SA, Cheong KJ. Regular yoga practice improves antioxidant status, immune function, and stress hormone releases in young healthy people: a randomized, double-blind, controlled pilot study.
- [113] P.H. Rajbhoj, S.U. Shete, A. Verma, R.S. Bhogal, Effect of yoga module on proinflammatory cytokines in industrial workers of lonvla: a randomized controlled trial, J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 9 (2015) 1–5.
- [114] R.P. Agarwal, A. Kumar, J.E. Lewis, A pilot feasibility and acceptability study of yoga/meditation on the quality of life and markers of stress in persons living with HIV who also use crack cocaine, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 21 (2015) 152–158.
- [115] N. Mawar, T. Katendra, R. Bagul, S. Bembalkar, A. Vedamurthachar, S. Tripathy, K. Srinivas, K. Mandar, N. Kumar, N. Gupte, R.S. Paranjape, Sudarshan Kriya yoga improves quality of life in healthy people living with HIV (PLHIV): results from an open label randomized clinical trial, Indian J. Med. Res. 141 (2015) 90–99.
- [116] R. Naoroibam, K.G. Metri, H. Bhargav, R. Nagaratna, H.R. Nagendra, Effect of integrated yoga (IY) on psychological states and CD4 counts of HIV-1 infected patients: a randomized controlled pilot study, Int. J. Yoga 9 (2016) 57–61.
- [117] M.C. Hooke, L. Gilchrist, L. Foster, M. Langevin, J. Lee, Yoga for children and adolescents after completing cancer treatment, J. Pediatr. Oncol. Nurs. 33 (2016) 64–73.
- [118] A. Wurz, C. Chamorro-Vina, G.M. Guilcher, F. Schulte, S.N. Culos-Reed, The feasibility and benefits of a 12-week yoga intervention for pediatric cancer out-patients, Pediatr. Blood Cancer 61 (2014) 1828–1834.
- [119] C.J. Taso, H.S. Lin, S.M. Chen, W.T. Huang, S.W. Chen, The effect of yoga exercise on improving depression, anxiety, and fatigue in women with breast cancer: a randomized controlled trial, J. Nurs. Res. 22 (2014) 155–164.
- [120] LJ. Peppone, M.C. Janeisins, C. Kamen, S.G. Mohile, LK. Sprod, J.S. Gewandter, J.J. Kirshner, R. Gaur, J. Ruzich, B.T. Esparaz, K.M. Mustian, The effect of YOCAS yoga for musculoskeletal symptoms among breast cancer survivors on hormonal therapy, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 150 (2015) 597–604.
- [121] N.V. Yagli, O. Ulger, The effects of yoga on the quality of life and depression in elderly breast cancer patients, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 21 (2015) 7–10.
- [122] D. Long Parma, D.C. Hughes, S. Ghosh, R. Li, R.A. Trevino-Whitaker, Ogden Sm, A.G. Ramirez, Effects of six months of yoga on inflammatory serum markers prognostic of recurrence risk in breast cancer survivors, Springerplus 4 (2015) 143.
- [123] C.G. Ratcliff, K. Milbury, K.D. Chandwani, A. Chaoul, G. Perkins, R. Nagarantha, R. Haddad, H.R. Nagendra, N.V. Raghuram, A. Spelman, B. Arun, Q. Wei, L. Cohen, Examining mediators and moderators of yoga for women with breast cancer undergoing radiotherapy, Integr. Cancer Ther. (2016) (Epub ahead of print).
- [124] K.D. Chandwani, G. Perkins, H.R. Nagendra, N.V. Raghuram, A. Spelman, R. Nagarathna, K. Johnson, A. Fortier, B. Arun, Q. Wei, C. Kirschbaum, R. Haddad, G.S. Morris, J. Scheetz, A. Chaoul, L. Cohen, Randomized, controlled trial of yoga in women with breast cancer undergoing radiotherapy, J. Clin. Oncol. 32 (2014) 1058–1065.
- [125] N. Vardar Yagli, G. Sener, H. Arikan, M. Saglam, D. Inal Ince, S. Savci, E. Calik Kutukcu, K. Altundag, E.B. Kaya, T. Kutluk, Y. Ozsik, Do yoga and aerobic exercise training have impact on functional capacity, fatigue, peripheral muscle strength, and quality of life in breast cancer survivors? Integr. Cancer Ther. 14 (2015) 125–132.
- [126] M.I. Fisher, B. Donahoe-Fillmore, L. Leach, C. O'Malley, C. Paeplow, T. Prescott, H. Merriman, Effects of yoga on arm volume among women with breast cancer related lymphedema: a pilot study, J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 18 (2014) 559–565.
- [127] A. Loudon, T. Barnett, M.A. Immink, A.D. Williams, Yoga management of breast cancer-related lymphodemia: a randomized controlled pilot-trial, BMC Complement. Altern. Med. (2014) (Epub ahead of print).
- [128] J.E. Bower, G. Greendale, A.D. Crosswell, D. Garet, B. Sternlieb, P.A. Ganz, M.R. Irwin, R. Olnstead, J. Arevalo, Cole Sw, Yoga reduces inflammatory signaling in fatigued breast cancer survivors: a randomized controlled trial, Psychoneuroendocrinology 43 (2014) 20–29.
- [129] H. Cramer, B. Pokhrel, C. Fester, B. Meier, F. Gass, R. Lauche, B. Eggleston,

M. Walz, A. Michalsen, R. Kunz, G. Dobos, J. Langhorst, A randomized controlled bicenter trial of yoga for patients with colorectal cancer, Psychoonccology (2015) (Epub ahead of print).

- [130] S. Farifteh, A. Mohammadi-Aria, A. Kiamanesh, B. Mofid, The impact of laughter on the stress of cancer patients before chemotherapy, Iran. J. Cancer Prev. 7 (2014) 179–183.
- [131] M.C. Mc Call, A. Ward, C. Heneghan, Yoga in adult cancer: a pilot survey of attitudes and beliefs among oncologists, Curr. Oncol. 22 (2015) 13–19.
- [132] K.K. Kelley, D. Aaron, K. Hynds, E. Machado, M. Wolff, The effects of a therapeutic yoga program on postural control, mobility, and gait speed in community-dwelling older adults, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 20 (2014) 949–954.
- [133] N. Nick, P. Petramfar, F. Ghodsbin, S. Keshavarzi, I. Jahanbin, The effect of yoga on balance and fear of falling in older adults, PM R. 8 (2016) 145–151.
- [134] M. Ni, K. Mooney, Richards L Balachandran A, Sun M, Harriell K, Potiaumpai M, Signorile JF. Comparative impacts of Tai Chi, balance training, and a specially-designed yoga program on balance in older fallers, Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 95 (2014) 1620–1628.
- [135] P. Saravanakumar, I.J. Higgins, P.J. van der Riet, J. Marquez, D. Sibbritt, The influence of tai chi and yoga on balance and falls in a residential care setting: a randomized controlled trial, Contemp. Nurse 48 (2014) 76–87.
- [136] P.E. Jeter, A.F. Nkodo, S.H. Moonaz, G. Dagnelle, A systematic review of yoga for balance in a healthy population, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 20 (2014) 221–232.
- [137] S. Youkana, C.M. Dean, M. Wolff, C. Sherrington, A. Tiedemann, Age Ageing 45 (2016) 21–29.
- [138] J. Halpern, M. Cohen, G. Kennedy, J. Reece, c Cahan, A. Baharav, Yoga for improving sleep quality and quality of life for older adults, Altern. Ther. Health Med. 20 (2014) 37–46.
- [139] Z.S. Motorwala, S. Kolke, P.Y. Panchal, N.S. Bedekar, P.K. Sancheti, A. Shyam, Effects of yogasanas on osteoporosis in postmenopausal women, Int. J. Yoga

9 (2016) 44-48.

- [140] S. Kim, M.G. Bemben, A.W. Knehans, D.A. Bemben, Effects of an 8-month Ashtanga-based yoga intervention on bone metabolism in middle-aged premenopausal women: a randomized controlled study, J. Sports Sci. Med. 14 (2015) 756–768.
- [141] L.K. Boulgarides, E. Barakatt, B. Coleman-Salgado, Measuring the effect of an eight-week adaptive yoga program on the physical and psychological status of individuals with Parkinson's disease. A pilot study, Int. J. Yoga Ther. 24 (2014) 31–41.
- [142] N.K. Sharma, K. Robbins, K. Wagner, Y.M. Colgrove, A randomized controlled pilot study of the therapeutic effects of yoga in people with Parkinson's disease, Int. J. Yoga 8 (2015) 74–79.
- [143] M. Ni, J.F. Signorile, K. Mooney, A. Balachandran, M. Potiaumpai, C. Luca, J.G. Moore, C.M. Kuenze, M. Eltoukhy, A.C. Perry, Comparative effect of power training and high-speed yoga on motor function in older patients with Parkinson disease, Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 97 (2016) 345–354.
- [144] LA. Bezerra, H.F. de Melo, A.P. Garay, V.M. Reis, F.J. Aidar, A.R. Bodas, N.D. Garrido, R.J. de Oliveira, Do 12-week yoga program influence respiratory function of elderly women? J. Hum. Kinet. 43 (2014) 177–184.
- [145] A.V. Vinay, D. Venkatesh, V. Ambarish, Impact of short-term practice of yoga on heart rate variability, Int. J. Yoga 9 (2016) 62–66.
- [146] S.L. Lin, C.Y. Huang, S.P. Shiu, S.H. Yeh, Effects of yoga on stress, stress adaptation, and heart rate variability among mental health professionals—a randomized controlled trial, Worldviews Evid. Based Nurs. 12 (2015) 236–245.
- [147] H. Nagendra, V. Kumar, S. Mukherjee, Cognitive behavior evaluation based on physiological parameters among young healthy subjects with yoga as intervention, Comput. Math. Methods Med. (2015) (Epub ahead of print).
- [148] R. Desai, A. Tailor, T. Bhatt, Effects of yoga on brain waves and structural activation: a review, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 21 (2015) 112–118.